No. 93569. φ SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON



No. 73454-7-I COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PROVIDENCE HEALTH & SERVICES – WASHINGTON, D/B/A
PROVIDENCE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER EVERETT and D/B/A
PROVIDENCE SACRED HEART MEDICAL CENTER; and
SWEDISH HEALTH SERVICES, D/B/A SWEDISH MEDICAL
CENTER/FIRST HILL,

Petitioners/Appellants,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON MEDICAL CENTER,

Intervenor.

COURT OF APPEALS DIV STATE OF WASHINGTON

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Peter S. Ehrlichman, WSBA 6591 Shawn Larsen-Bright, WSBA 37066 DORSEY & WHITNEY LLP 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 6100 Seattle, WA 98104-7043

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS AND INTRODUCTION

Petitioners Providence Health & Services – Washington and Swedish Health Services (collectively, "Petitioners") respectfully request review of the Court of Appeals decision in this case, which raises important issues of substantial public interest with respect to health care planning in Washington that should be resolved by this Court.

This case concerns whether a state institution, the University of Washington Medical Center ("UWMC"), will be given special, preferential treatment and exempted from the normal requirements of the Department of Health ("Department") Certificate of Need ("CON") process for approving new hospital beds, or whether UWMC will be held to the same standards as all other Washington hospitals, as required by state law. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the Department's erroneous decision to "make an exception" for UWMC and to grant it a CON to construct 79 acute care hospital beds, even though the legal standards consistently applied by the Department in every other similar case indisputably required UWMC's application to be denied.

For the first time in the 35 years of the CON program, the Department abandoned its prior uniform interpretation of the CON statutory review criteria and adopted an "alternative" analysis focused on the "needs" and desires of the specific institution (UWMC), instead of on community needs, as required by law. The Department's decision, and the Court of Appeals decision affirming it, marks an unprecedented and unwarranted departure from decades of settled practice and dramatically

alters the health care planning framework for acute care beds in Washington. Particularly disturbing is the fact that this unprecedented "exception" was made by a state agency to award another state institution a de facto exemption, by administrative decree, from the rules that apply to all other participants in the state health care system.

This decision raises important administrative law issues and has profound consequences reaching far beyond this case. It accords unfair preferences to another state institution, contrary to law, and establishes that the rules that always apply to all other providers can be disregarded at the Department's whim. In doing so, the decision undermines the predictability, consistency, and transparency achieved over decades in the Department's CON process. Thus, Petitioners respectfully request review.

II. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the Court of Appeals's published opinion affirming the Department's decision to grant UWMC a CON. A copy of the Court of Appeals opinion (the "Decision") is attached as Appendix A. The Department sought partial reconsideration, which was denied on August 2, 2016. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is attached as Appendix B. This Petition for Review timely follows.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Under Washington law, CON applications for new acute care beds are analyzed using four review criteria, which *all* must be satisfied to obtain approval. *See* WAC 246-310-210 (need), -220 (financial feasibility), -230 (structure and process of care), -240 (cost containment).

The applicant must prove that the proposed project is needed by the community, will foster containment of costs, is financially feasible, and will benefit the structure and process of care delivery in the community. *Id.* This framework permits the Department to plan in a comprehensive way based upon *community* interests, rather than those of particular facilities, thus avoiding duplication of services and controlling costs. *Id.* An applicant's desires or "needs" are not part of the review criteria. *Id.*

Since the enactment of the CON statute in 1979, the Department has analyzed applications for new acute care beds by applying a multi-step numeric need methodology (the "Methodology"), which forecasts the number of beds actually needed in the applicable community planning area. Indeed, the Department has relied upon the Methodology in *every* prior evaluation of the need for new acute care beds, and has denied any CON application where the Methodology does not show a need for new beds. RP820, 831-35, 838; AR3029. This has ensured an objective, "predictable, transparent, and consistent" process by the Department and for applicants that complies with the requirements of Washington law.

In this case, the Methodology showed no community need for the beds requested by UWMC and, thus, that UWMC's application should be denied. In order to grant a CON to UWMC nonetheless, the Department refused to apply the Methodology. Instead, for the first time, it applied an "alternative" analysis, referred to as "Criterion Two." Criterion Two

¹ In re: CON Decision by Dep't of Health re: Valley Med. Ctr. et al. ("In re Valley") (AR2362-439), Final Order (2012), Findings of Fact 1.13, 1.14, footnote 8 (AR2375).

consists of previously forgotten language from the long-defunct State Health Plan. Whereas the Methodology is an objective method for calculating community need for beds, Criterion Two improperly focuses on institutional interests, citing subjective factors comparing the requesting institution to other providers. The Department's use of Criterion Two was contrary to law and to decades of CON practice. The Department compounded its error through a series of deeply flawed and unprecedented decisions further aimed at achieving its desired result of awarding a CON to UWMC. By affirming, the Court of Appeals legitimized these errors and established them as precedent for future cases.

The issues presented for review are:

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that the CON need criterion could be satisfied through the unprecedented application of Criterion Two, to permit approval of a CON application that otherwise should have been denied under governing law and longstanding uniform Department policy, practice, and interpretation of the law?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Department's flawed and unprecedented analysis of UWMC's CON application, in which, among other errors, the Department (1) contradicted decades of

² The Plan was repealed twenty-six years ago. Laws 1989, 1st Ex. Sess. Ch. 9, Sec. 610 (former RCW 70.38.919). Criterion Two was contained in the Plan, but was never applied while the Plan was in effect or thereafter. Criterion Two is not a real standard; it is merely verbiage in a historical document that has been without legal effect for decades.

³ In general, the Methodology uses patient hospital utilization data, population projections, adjustments for patient planning area in-migration and out-migration, and the existing bed inventory, to calculate the numerical need for, or surplus of, beds in a planning area as of the target year (seven years in the future).

Department action in finding the non-need criteria were satisfied in UWMC's application for unneeded beds; (2) disregarded the findings of Department employees, who found the application had to be denied, in favor of implementing the unsupported instruction of a Department director to grant the CON; (3) failed to properly apply the language of Criterion Two, its purported "alternative" need standard; and (4) refused to use the most accurate, up-to-date data to evaluate the application?

Health care is a matter of great public importance, and the CON process is an integral part of the health care system. By affirming the Department's erroneous decision, the Court of Appeals Decision directly affects all future CON applications for acute care beds. The creation of an "exception," by one state agency for the benefit of another, also erodes public trust in the neutrality of state decision-making bodies. In short, this Petition raises issues of "substantial public interest that should be determined by" this Court, and review should be granted. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. UWMC's Application And The Program's Review

In 2012, UWMC constructed a new building ("Montlake Tower") capable of providing medical services. AR3519-20; RP72. UWMC understood from the outset that a CON was required before it could add acute care hospital beds to the new building. *Id.* It also knew there was no community need for additional beds, but nonetheless decided to shell in the entire building for internal financial reasons. AR3783-84. Once it did so, UWMC decided to accelerate the timetable for acute care bed use of

the space it had built, and in November of 2012 it applied for a CON to add 79 beds to the Montlake Tower (the "Application"). AR3519-20. UWMC hoped it could convince the Department to approve the beds despite the community's well-known bed surplus and lack of need for the foreseeable future. The Application stated that the total capital cost of the project to add 79 beds was \$70,771,363, but that figure omitted the \$34,000,000 in construction costs incurred for shelling-in the space in which the beds would be located. AR3550.

Over the next year, the Department's CON Program ("Program") thoroughly evaluated the Application. AR4712-58. The Program Analyst (Bob Russell) and the Department's financial expert (Ric Ordos), who were charged with conducting the evaluation, correctly concluded that the Application *failed* the CON statutory review criteria (i.e., need, financial feasibility, cost containment, and structure and process of care), in significant part because there was no community need for new beds under the Methodology always used by the Department. AR4758, 4765-69; RP819-20, 831-35, 838, 1249-51. Accordingly, the Analyst prepared a draft evaluation concluding that the Application should be denied. RP880.

At the last minute, however, the then Executive Director of the office responsible for managing the Program (Bart Eggen) unilaterally ordered his subordinate, the Analyst, to award a CON to UWMC. RP880-81. It is undisputed that, when doing so, Mr. Eggen had not reviewed the Application or any of the materials submitted in opposition to the Application. RP881-86. The Analyst complied with his superior's

directive, and revised the evaluation to change the conclusion from "no" to "yes." RP1257. The Program did not cite Criterion Two in its revised evaluation. AR4712-58. Tellingly, the Analyst admitted that the Program just decided to "make an exception," without "analyzing, evaluating, or passing judgment on whether" UWMC satisfied Criterion Two or any other purported "alternative" criteria. RP1257-58. The Department thus approved the Application, despite UWMC's failure to meet the legal standards universally applied to all previous acute care bed applications.

Notably, this was the first time that: (1) the Program approved a CON for acute care beds in the absence of need under the Methodology; (2) the Program found that an application satisfied the cost containment and financial feasibility criteria despite there being no numeric need; (3) the Program disregarded the findings of the Department's expert on financial feasibility and cost containment, who found that the Application failed those criteria; and (4) the Analyst responsible for the evaluation was overruled at the last minute by a superior and was directed to approve an application that failed the review criteria. RP831-35, 838, 846, 926-27.

B. The Adjudicative Proceeding And The Department's Decision

Petitioners requested an adjudicative proceeding to contest the Department's decision. At the hearing, the Program made no effort to defend its evaluation, instead permitting UWMC to try to justify the CON. Because the Application failed under the standards always applied by the Department, UWMC asked the Department's hearing officer ("HLJ") to grant the CON based on Criterion Two, which the Program had not

applied in its evaluation.

On September 12, 2014, the HLJ entered an initial order approving UWMC's Application, essentially adopting UWMC's positions in their entirety. AR3119-56. With respect to the need criterion, the HLJ refused to apply the Methodology, which showed no need. Id. Instead, he held that UWMC would be treated as "unique" and, for the first time ever, the Application would be approved under so-called Criterion Two. *Id.* Prior to this ruling by the HLJ, the Department had never applied or even disclosed that it would apply Criterion Two. The HLJ concluded that UWMC had shown an institutional need for more beds, principally based on its (inflated) claims of overcrowding. Id. With respect to financial feasibility, the HLJ acknowledged that UWMC had omitted \$34,000,000 in capital costs from its Application, but concluded that the criterion was satisfied despite the Department having failed to analyze the project's true capital cost. Id. With respect to the criteria of cost containment and structure and process of care, the HLJ concluded that those criteria were met, also without any substantive analysis. *Id.*

Petitioners sought administrative review. The Review Officer affirmed the HLJ's decision with little further analysis. AR3493-507.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision

Petitioners filed a petition for judicial review, which was certified for direct review to the Court of Appeals, with review then accepted by the Court. While Petitioners dispute virtually all aspects of the Department's decision, the appeal focused on five principal deficiencies. <u>First</u>, there is

no legal or factual basis for the Department's decision to abandon the need Methodology and to approve UWMC's project based on Criterion Two – language outside of the governing statute and regulations that has never been used before and is inconsistent with the review criteria as uniformly applied for decades. Second, even if Criterion Two could be considered, and it cannot, the evidence cannot support a conclusion of need. Third, the record cannot support a conclusion that UWMC has satisfied the financial feasibility and cost containment criteria in light of the lack of numeric need for the project and the Department's failure to evaluate the \$34,000,000 omitted from UWMC's Application. Fourth, the record cannot support a conclusion that UWMC has proven that its project is the superior alternative to address any purported need and will not result in duplication or fragmentation of care, as required by law. Finally, the Department erred in refusing to admit up-to-date and accurate statistical data while permitting UWMC to introduce inaccurate projections of old data, resulting in a decision prejudicially based on false information.

On July 5, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued its published Decision affirming the Department's final administrative decision. The Court rejected Petitioners' arguments and deferred to the Department. It concluded that the Department had not committed legal error and that there was sufficient evidence in the record to support the Department's decision. The Court of Appeals, like the Department, essentially accepted UWMC's arguments in their entirety. The Court of Appeals Decision, like the Department's decision it confirmed, was error.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court may grant review if the underlying decision "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). That standard is met here. Health care planning is a matter of inherent public interest and the decision here alters decades of settled practice based on a previously uniform interpretation of law. In affirming the Department's errors, the Decision has sweeping consequences for Washington's health care system, affecting all future CON applications for acute care hospital beds. The Decision will create confusion in a system previously grounded in consistency, and transform a transparent process into one without clear standards, spurring distrust and unnecessary litigation. It also sanctions the great unfairness to all Washington providers, whose ability to expand is restricted by CON requirements from which their state competitor, UWMC, has effectively been exempted. This is precisely the sort of matter of public consequence that deserves final resolution by this Court. Review should be granted.

A. The Decision Directly Affects Health Care Planning In Washington, Which Is An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest.

The Washington legislature has recognized that health care planning is a matter of public importance. It is public policy in this state to "promote, maintain, and assure the health of all citizens in the state, provide accessible health services, health manpower, health facilities, and other resources while controlling increases in costs, and recognize prevention as a high priority in health programs." RCW 70.38.015(1).

The CON process is a vital part of this public policy, as a crucial "component of a health planning regulatory process that is consistent with the statewide health resources strategy and public policy goals that are clearly articulated and regularly updated." *Id.* As this Court has noted, the CON process seeks "to control costs by ensuring better utilization of existing institutional health services and major medical equipment." *St. Joseph Hosp. and Health Care Ctr. v. Dep't of Health*, 125 Wn.2d 733, 735, 887 P.2d 891 (1995); *see also Hospice of Spokane v. Wash. State Dep't of Health*, 178 Wn. App. 442, 454, 315 P.3d 556 (2013) (observing that the CON process promotes public health "by providing accessible health services and facilities, while controlling costs").

Thus, this Court has long recognized the strong public interest in the CON process. On many prior occasions, it has granted review in CON matters to analyze applicable law and review Department decisions. See King Cty. Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 2 v. Wash. State Dep't of Health, 178 Wn.2d 363, 371, 309 P.3d 416 (2013) (granting petition for review in CON matter); Overlake Hosp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Health, 170 Wn.2d 43, 49, 239 P.3d 1095 (2010) (granting petition for review in CON matter); Univ. of Wash. Med. Ctr. v. Wash. Dep't of Health, 164 Wn.2d 95, 102, 187 P.3d 243 (2008) (granting direct review in CON matter); St. Joseph Hosp., 125 Wn.2d at 738 (evaluating CON matter on direct appeal); Providence Hosp. of Everett v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 112 Wn.2d 363, 355, 770 P.2d 1040 (1989) (accepting certification and evaluating CON matter); cf. Wash. State Hosp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Health, 183 Wn.2d 590,

594, 363 P.3d 1285 (2015) (granting direct review of dispute involving CON rules and finding Department exceeded its statutory authority).

Just as in these prior instances, this case involves matters of public importance deserving of this Court's review. The affirmance by the Court of Appeals of the Department's arbitrary and capricious actions unfairly changes CON law and practice for providers across the state. The use of Criterion Two in the manner it was used here will effectively forever exempt UWMC from the health care planning framework established by the legislature, and permit arbitrary decision-making by the Department. This is not a case in which an error affects only the parties, or where an agency decision affects only the applicant. To the contrary, the decision here effectively reverses the longstanding approach taken for all acute care bed applications, thus impacting all future applicants. CON applicants can no longer expect a determination by the Department that is transparent, predictable, and consistent with past application of the governing law. Accordingly, this case presents issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4), and review should be granted.

B. The Decision Changed Washington CON Law.

Without basis in law or fact, the Court of Appeals Decision, and the Department decision it affirmed, fundamentally altered Washington CON practice and law. The principal issues are identified below.

1. The Use Of Criterion Two To Favor UWMC Was Contrary To Law And Decades Of Department Action.

Once it became clear that UWMC's Application had to be denied,

the Department changed the rules. To achieve its desired goal, it disregarded whether the means of achieving that goal were appropriate or fair. They were not. The Department's use of Criterion Two as the basis for determining need constituted an error of law that was contrary to decades of consistent application of the CON statute and regulations.

By law, the need criterion assesses "[t]he need the population served or to be served" has for the proposed services. RCW 70.38.115(2); see also WAC 246-310-210(1) (need is assessed by considering whether "[t]he population served or to be served has need for the project and other services and facilities of the type proposed are not or will not be sufficiently available or accessible to meet that need"). Until this case, the Department had always applied the Methodology in determining the need for new acute care beds because it provides an objective, predictable, transparent, and consistent tool for evaluating community need. The Methodology focuses on community interests and avoids consideration of provider self-interest. As the Department has consistently explained, the law requires it to evaluate the "need for additional acute care beds in the service area" and not "whether the individual facility needs more beds."⁴

Here, for the first time ever, the Department abandoned the Methodology and applied Criterion Two, in order to favor UWMC. But, unlike the Methodology, Criterion Two is *not* based on community need.

4

⁴ In re CON Decision on Providence Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. Proposal to Add 152 Acute Care Beds to Spokane County ("In re Sacred Heart"), Final Order (2011) (AR 2441-99), Finding of Fact No. 1.32 (AR2465-66); see also id. (stating that the analysis of need under CON law "is not a determination whether the [applicant] meets the requirements but whether the proposed additional beds are needed in the [applicable] service area").

Rather, Criterion Two is an institution-based analysis and the Department's finding of need was based upon UWMC's purported institutional "need" for additional beds. Nothing in CON law, however, permits consideration of institutional needs. According to the Department's own prior interpretation of the governing law, the focus is solely on the needs of the community. Thus, the Department's use of Criterion Two to obtain a "yes" for UWMC was not just inequitable, it contradicted established law and decades of consistent policy and practice.

In its Decision, the Court of Appeals essentially held that the fact that the Department had exclusively used the Methodology for decades did not preclude it from using other standards. The Court's analysis was erroneous in many respects. In particular, it failed to recognize that Criterion Two is inconsistent with Washington law because it focuses on institutional rather than community needs. Not only was the use of Criterion Two *new*, its use was contrary to the requirements of Washington law, as they have been consistently interpreted and applied by the Department for decades. The Department dug out the Criterion Two language from the long-defunct State Health Plan because it knew it needed to cite something to justify approving UWMC's Application in the absence of community need. Doing so was contrary to law.

Moreover, the Department's belated application of Criterion Two in its adjudicative decision also violated WAC 246-310-200(2)(c), which requires the Department to identify the standards it will use *before* it conducts its evaluation. That did not happen here. Indeed, the

Department did not even use Criterion Two in its evaluation; it was used for the first time by the HLJ in his opinion, after the evaluation was challenged. The Court of Appeals essentially held that the Department's violation could be ignored because UWMC argued for the application of Criterion Two, and Petitioners were able to present their position in the adjudicative proceeding. But the regulation is intended to provide *all* members of the public with fair notice about the standards the Department will use, and to ensure that the Department fairly follows the standards it says it will use. None of that happened here. In this case, the initial evaluation concluded that the Application had to be denied, but the CON was granted anyway on order from a Department director. Then, when that decision was challenged and it became clear that the rules required denial of the Application, the Department's adjudication changed the rules. This departure from ordinary practice deserves review.

2. The Department's Analysis Was Inconsistent With Settled Policy And Practice In Many Other Respects.

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