RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Oct 03, 2016, 3:34 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

NO. 93569-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PROVIDENCE HEALTH & SERVICES - WASHINGTON, D/B/A
PROVIDENCE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER EVERETT AND
D/B/A PROVIDENCE SACRED HEART SERVICES, DBA SWEDISH
MEDICAL CENTER/FIRST HILL,

Appellant,

V.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON MEDICAL CENTER,

Intervenor.

RESPONDENT WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH'S ANSWER OPPOSING PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

VI. REASONS FOR DENYING REVIEW

Providence petitions for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) on grounds that the case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Petition at 10.5 The Petition should be denied.

A. The Supreme Court Should Not Accept Review To Determine Whether Need Exists For UWMC's New Beds

Providence's main argument is that the Department should have denied UWMC's application for 79 additional beds under WAC 246-310-210(1) for lack of need under the numeric methodology in the State Health Plan. Throughout its Petition, Providence repeatedly argues that use of Criterion 2 was improper because the Department has

Providence cites several Certificate of Need cases where this Court granted discretionary review. Petition at 11-12. In other cases, this Court has denied discretionary review. DaVita Health Care Partner, Inc. v. Dep't of Health, 192 Wn. App. 102, 365 P.3d 1283 (2015), rev. denied, 185 Wn.2d 1030 (2016) (contesting Department award of a kidney dialysis application); MultiCare Health Sys. v. Dep't of Health, 118 Wn. App. 597, 77 P.3d 363 (2003), rev. denied, 151 Wn.2d 1023 (2004) (contesting necessity of obtaining a Certificate of Need when hospital opens new facility at a new location); Children's Hosp. and Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Health, 95 Wn. App. 858, 975 P.2d 567 (1999); rev. denied, 139 Wn.2d 1021 (2000) (contesting necessity of obtaining a Certificate of Need to perform pediatric open heart surgery); Centennial Villas, Inc. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 47 Wn. App. 42, 733 P.2d 564 (1987), rev. denied, 108 Wn.2d 1025 (1987) (contesting necessity of obtaining a Certificate of Need to offer home health services).

not previously found need for additional hospital beds under Criterion 2. Petition at 1-15, 18-20.

This argument is a change of position for Providence. In commenting on UWMC's application at the start of the application process, Providence recognized that Criterion 2 *may* be used to find need for new hospital beds, even when the numeric methodology does not show need. AR at 3917, 4434. Only after contesting approval of UWMC's application in the adjudicative proceeding did Providence begin arguing otherwise. The Court of Appeals persuasively rejected Providence's argument:

Criterion 2 recognizes that the numeric based need methodology is not always the most effective means of evaluating bed need. It provides an alternative process through which the Department may assess bed need. Although the Department has not previously used Criterion 2, that alone does not preclude the Department from referring to it. Criterion 2 satisfies the language of WAC 246-310-200, as it is an applicable standard developed by a group with expertise in the field. And, by offering an alternative method of evaluating bed need, Criterion 2 is also in line with the purpose of the State Health Planning and Resources Development Act, which is promote accessibility of health services. RCW 70.38.015.

Opinion at 14.

Indeed, the numeric methodology is *not* always the best way to evaluate need. The Certificate of Need law seeks to control healthcare

costs by allowing the building of new facilities only when existing facilities are well utilized. St. Joseph Hosp. v. Dep't of Health, 125 Wn.2d 733, 736, 887 P.2d 891 (1995). Hence, the numeric methodology evaluates whether the total number of existing beds at all hospitals in a planning area is sufficient to serve patients in the future. Relying on the numeric methodology makes sense when all planning-area hospitals have comparable ability to serve patients. In such case, a crowded hospital may be denied new beds when a sufficient surplus of beds exists at a comparable hospital in the same planning area.

However, relying on the numeric methodology makes no sense when the underutilized hospitals do not have comparable capability of serving patients as does the crowded hospital. That was plainly the case with UWMC's application. Lack of need under the numeric methodology occurred because two hospitals in the North King planning area—Northwest and Swedish Ballard—have a significant number of unoccupied beds. However, compared to UWMC, these two smaller hospitals do not offer the same range and complexity of services; do not serve a significant number of patients from a wide geographic area; and do not operate a medical school.

These factors led the Court of Appeals to hold that "substantial evidence" supports the Department's decision that application of Criterion 2 demonstrates the need for 79 additional beds at UWMC. Opinion at 20-21. Furthermore, as the Court of Appeals noted, approval of the 79 new UWMC beds serves the primary purpose of the Certificate of Need law, which is the "promotion and maintenance of access" to needed health care services." *Overlake Hosp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Health*, 170 Wn.2d 43, 55, 239 P.3d 1095 (2010). In its Petition for Discretionary Review, Providence does not take issue with this holding.

Providence additionally complains that application of Criterion 2 gives UWMC "special preferential treatment" and a "forever exemption" from the Certificate of Need law. Petition at 1, 12, 16-18. This complaint has no merit. *Any* hospital, not just UWMC, may apply for additional beds under Criterion 2. And, of course, Criterion 2 is not an exemption from the Certificate of Need law. A hospital, applying under Criterion 2, must show that it is reaching capacity and satisfies certain criteria that justify the need for additional beds at the hospital. The hospital also must meet all other

The substantial evidence test does not require the court to agree with the agency's finding. The inquiry is whether there is a "sufficient quantity of evidence to persuade a fair-minded person on the truth or correctness" of the finding. Hardee v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Servs., 172 Wn.2d 1, 7, 256 P.3d 339 (2011). The test is "highly differential" to the agency. ARCO Prods. Co. v. Wash. Utils. and Transp. Comm'n, 125 Wn.2d 805, 812, 888 P.2d 728 (1995). And, the court does not "reweigh" the evidence. Univ. of Wash. Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Health, 164 Wn.2d 95, 103, 187 P.3d 243 (2008).

requirements for Certificate of Need approval in WAC 246-310-210(2), 246-310-220, 246-310-230, 246-310-240.

Finally, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Providence's baseless argument that using Criterion 2 was an unfair surprise to entities opposing UWMC's application. Petition at 14-15. The Court noted that the application—on which any entity had the right to comment—specifically relied on both the numeric methodology and Criterion 2 to support need for the 79 additional beds. Opinion at 15. In comment, Providence in fact admitted that UWMC could attempt to prove need under Criterion 2. AR at 3917, 4434. The Court also noted that, while never finding need for hospital beds under Criterion 2, the Department in three prior cases had recognized that an alternative to the numeric methodology (Criterion 2) may be used to demonstrate need. Opinion at 10-11. And Providence received a five-day adjudicative hearing to contest approval of the UWMC beds under Criterion 2. In no way was applying Criterion 2 unfair to Providence.

In reality, it would have been unfair to UWMC's patients *not* to consider Criterion 2. After all, Criterion 2 is part of the State Health Plan. As the Court of Appeals noted, the Department had previously recognized that it may be used to demonstrate need. Contrary to Providence's repeated assertion, Criterion 2 was not applied by the Department to serve

UWMC's "self-interest" but rather to serve the interests of patients who will want care there in the future.

Providence summarizes its argument as follows: "The Department dug out the Criterion Two language from the long-defunct State Health Plan because it needed something to justify approving UWMC's Application in the absence of community need. Doing so is contrary to law." Petition at 14. This argument is an unfounded attack on the Department's integrity⁷; and is devoid of any legal underpinning.

It is beyond reasonable dispute that the Court of Appeals correctly held that (1) the Department had the right to evaluate the need for UWMC's 79 proposed new beds under Criterion 2 of the State Health Plan, and (2) substantial evidence supports the Department's determination that Criterion 2 shows need for the new beds. Hence, in light of the Court of Appeals decision, there is no issue of substantial public importance that this Court itself needs to determine.

B. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Determined That UWMC's Application Should Not Be Denied Because Of An Alleged Omission In Reporting \$34 Million In Capital Costs

⁷ Providence's assertion that the Certificate of Need Program was biased in favor of UWMC, as a sister state entity, is unfounded. Petition at 2, 18, 20. Notably, the Department does not always side with UWMC. *Univ. of Wash. Med. Ctr. v. Dep't of Health*, 164 Wn.2d 95, 187 P.3d 243 (2008) (Over UWMC's objections, the Department approved a new liver transplant program, to rival UWMC's program, at Swedish Health Services, which is now owned by Providence).

Providence claims that UWMC's application fails because it did not include \$34 million in pre-incurred costs associated with shelling the space where the new 79 beds would be located. Petition at 5-6, 9-16. WAC 246-310-220(1) requires an applicant disclose capital costs in order to demonstrate the financial feasibility of its project. Providence argues that RCW 70.38.025(2) and WAC 246-310-010(10) "requires that all construction costs be included in the capital expenditure estimate contained in a CON application." Petition at 16. However, these laws simply define the term "capital expenditure" as used in RCW 70.38 and WAC 246-310. They do not require that *pre-incurred* costs be included as capital expenditures. But the truth of the matter is that UWMC *did* disclose the \$34 million cost in its application. Opinion at 22-23.

The Court of Appeals further concluded that the pre-paid \$34 million expenditure would not adversely affect the financial feasibility of the expansion project. Providence does not argue otherwise.

The issue of whether UWMC properly reported the \$34 million is not of significant public interest. Moreover, there is no need for this Court to decide the issue because the issue was correctly decided against Providence by the Court of Appeals.

C. Other Arguments Briefly Raised By Providence Were Properly Rejected By The Court Of Appeals

Without supporting argument, Providence states that the "record cannot support a conclusion that UWMC has proven that its project is the superior alternative to address any purported need and will not result in the duplication or fragmentation of care, as required by law." Petition at 9.

The Court of Appeals rejected Providence's superior-alternative argument. It found substantial evidence showing that UWMC transferring more care to its affiliated Northwest Hospital is not a superior alternative to adding additional beds at UWMC to alleviate overcrowding at UWMC. Opinion at 24-26. In its Petition for Discretionary Review, Providence does not even attempt to contest the Court's reasoning.

The Court of Appeals also rejected Providence's duplication-fragmentation-of-care argument. It found substantial evidence that additional beds at UWMC would allow the hospital to continue to provide a level of care that is not available at Northwest or Swedish Ballard. *Id.* at 26-27. In its Petition for Discretionary Review, Providence does not even attempt to contest the Court's conclusion.

Finally, Providence argues the Health Law Judge "erred in refusing to admit up-to-date data and accurate statistical data while permitting UWMC to introduce inaccurate projections of old data, resulting in a

Court of Appeals rejected this argument. It held that (1) the Health Law Judge's exclusion of updated data was not reversible as an abuse of discretion, and (2) in any event, Providence failed to show that the exclusion affected his decision to find need for the additional UWMC beds. Opinion at 28-29. In its Petition for Discretionary Review, Providence does not attempt to refute the Court's ruling.

None of these three issues, raised in the Petition without supporting argument, is of substantial public interest. They were correctly decided against Providence by the Court of Appeals, and no determination by this Court is necessary.

VII. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Department respectfully requests that Providence's Petition for Discretionary Review be denied.